


In 1984 and 1987, you received "negotiations 
bonuses" of six weeks salary for each year. In 1984 you 
received $5,197.50 and in 1987, $6,000.00 in negotiations 
bonuses. You also assisted in 1984 and 1987 the Local's 
President and Vice President, who were also Business 
Agents, in improperly receiving $8,958 in "negotiation 
bonuses." 

Local 194 Bylaws, section 7.06 specifically states 
that it is the duty of the Secretary-Treasurer and 
Business Agents to negotiate contracts. This additional 
six weeks pay as a bonus for you, and three weeks for the 
business agents, for performing your duties for which you 
were fully compensated was not in the interest of the 
members and a breach of your duty to them. 

Also from 1985 to 1989, you benefited from at least 
$17,018 in the form of unapproved and improper additional 
contributions made on your behalf by the Local into the 
Local 194 Full-Time Salaried Officers Pension and 
Retirement Fund. The form of contribution has been 
shifted from annual payments of $3,000.00 per full time 
officer, to annual contributions that equalled 10 per 
cent of each officer's yearly salary. According to the 
plan rules in effect prior to 1985, $15,000.00 would have 
been contributed on your behalf into this special 
Retirement Fund from 1985 to 1989; instead you received 
$32,018.00. You continue to benefit from these illegal 
excessive benefits to date. In addition you assisted the 
Local's President and Vice-President in improperly 
benefitting from $16,762.00 in the form of additional 
pension fund contributions. 

Local 194 Bylaws state that "All present benefits, 
terms and conditions of employment in effect at the time 
of adoption of these By-laws shall continue in effect 
unless and until changed, modified or eliminated by vote 
of the membership." (Article XI, Section D). Although 
you knew that changing the method of contribution in this 
manner would result in much larger annual payments on 
your behalf, you and the other Board members never 
submitted this change to the members for their vote of 
approval. 

Count II 

Violating Article II, section 2(a) of the 
International Brotherhood of Teamsters Constitution, by 
conducting yourself in a manner to bring reproach upon 
the IBT, to wit: in violation of section 406(b) of the 



Employment Retirement Income Security Act, you received 
an additional $6,000.00 a year in salary from Local 194 
as compensation for serving in an unpaid position as a 
Trustee of Local 194's Pension and Welfare Funds. The 
Executive Board voted on June 17, 1987 to pay you this 
additional $4,000.00 a year specifically because of your 
appointment as Chairman of the Board of Trustees for the 
Benefit Funds. Thus far you have improperly received 
$3,000.00 in 1987, $6,000.00 in 1988, $6,000.00 in 1989 
and $3,000.00 in 1990 for a total of $18,000.00 from this 
illegal scheme. 

Moreover, this raise was not submitted for required 
membership approval until May 3, 1988 roughly 5 months 
after you had received your first additional salary check 
of $2,400.00. This was in violation of Local By-Law 
Article IX section 9.02, which says that the Executive 
Board may "Provide, subject to approval by membership, 
the salary, and subject to disapproval by the membership, 
the allowance, direct and indirect disbursements, 
expenses for officers and business agents. 

B. Thomas Baker 

The charge against Baker is as follows: 
Violating the International Brotherhood of Teamsters 

(IBT) Constitution Article XIX, section 6(b)(3), and 
6(b)(2), and Article II, Section 2(a) by acting in a 
manner to bring reproach upon the IBT, and embezzling 
$53,935 in local funds, 

TO WIT, 

In 1984 and 1987, you received unauthorized and 
improper "negotiations bonuses" of three weeks salary. 
In 1984 you received $2,079 and in 1987, $2,400 in 
negotiations bonuses. You also assisted in 1984 and 1987 
the Local's Secretary Treasurer and Vice-President, who 
were also Business Agents, in improperly receiving 
$15,676.50 in "negotiation bonuses". 

Local 194 Bylaws, Section 7.06 specifically states 
that it is the duty of the Business Agents to assist the 
Local's Secretary Treasurer in the negotiation of 
contracts. This additional three weeks pay as a bonus 
for you and the other Business Agent, and the six weeks 
for the Secretary Treasurer, to perform your duties under 



the Local Bylaws for which you received a salary was 
never authorized by the members. 

Also from 1985 to 1989, you benefitted from at least 
$8,381.00 in the form of unapproved and improper-
additional contributions made on your behalf by the Local 
into the Local 194 Full-Time Salaried Officers Pension 
and Retirement Fund. The form of contribution has been 
shifted from annual payments of $3,000.00 per full time 
officer, to annual contributions that equalled 10 per 
cent of each officer's yearly salary. According to the 
plan rules in effect prior to 1985, $15,000.00 would have 
been contributed on your behalf into this special 
Retirement Fund from 1985 to 1989; instead you received 
at least $23,381.00. You also assisted the Secretary 
Treasurer and the Vice-President in improperly receiving 
$25,399.00 in additional pension fund contributions. 

Local 194 Bylaws state that "All present benefits, 
terms and conditions of employment in effect at the time 
of adoption of these By-laws shall continue in effect 
unless and until changed, modified or eliminated by vote 
of the membership." (Article XI, Section D) Although 
you knew that changing the method of contribution in this 
manner would result in such larger annual payments on 
your behalf, you and the other Board members never 
submitted this change to the members for their vote of 
approval. 

c. Harry Leary 

The charge against Leary is as follows: 

Violating the International Brotherhood of Teamsters 
(IBT) Constitution Article XIX, section 6(b)(2), and 
6(b)(3), and Article II, section 2(a) by acting in a 
manner to bring reproach upon the IBT, and embezzling 
$53,935.00 in local funds. 

TO WIT, 

In 1984 and 1987, you received "negotiations 
bonuses" of three weeks salary for each year. In 1984 
you received $2,079.50 and in 1987, $2,400.00 in 
negotiations bonuses. You also assisted in 1984 and 1987 
the Local's Secretary Treasurer and President, who were 
also Business Agents, in improperly receiving $15,676.50 
in "negotiation bonuses." 



Local 194 Bylaws, section 7.06 specifically states 
that it is the duty of the Business Agents to assist the 
Local's Secretary Treasurer in the negotiation of 
contracts. This additional three weeks pay as a bonus 
for you and the other Business Agent, and the six weeks 
for the Secretary Treasurer, to perform your duties under 
the Local Bylaws for which you were fully compensated, 
was never authorized by the members. 

Also from 1985 to 1989, you benefitted from at least 
$8,381.00 in the form of unapproved and improper 
additional contributions made on your behalf by the Local 
into the Local 194 Full-Time Salaried Officers Pension 
and Retirement Fund. The form of contribution has been 
shifted from annual payments of $3,000.00 per full time 
officer, to annual contributions that equalled 10 per 
cent of each officer's yearly salary. According to the 
plan rules in effect prior to 1985, $15,000.00 would have 
been contributed on your behalf into this special 
Retirement Fund from 1985 to 1989; instead you received 
$23,381.00. You also assisted the Secretary Treasurer 
and the Vice-President in improperly receiving $25,399.00 
in additional improper pension fund contributions. 

Local 194 Bylaws state that "All present benefits, 
terms and conditions of employment in effect at the time 
of adoption of these By-laws shall continue in effect 
unless and until changed, modified or eliminated by vote 
of the membership." (Article XI, Section D). Although 
you knew that changing the method of contribution in this 
manner would result in much larger annual payments on 
your behalf, you and the other Board members never 
submitted this change to the members for their vote of 
approval. 

II. The Constitutional Provisions 

The charges against Catenaro, Leary and Baker implicate the 

following two provisions of the IBT Constitution: 

A. Article II, Section 2(a), which provides: 

Any person shall be eligible to membership in this 
organization upon compliance with the requirements of 
this Constitution and the rulings of the General 
Executive Board. Each person upon becoming a member 
thereby pledges his honor: to faithfully observe the 



Constitution and laws of the International Brotherhood of 
Teamsters, 

Chauffeurs, Warehousemen and Helpers of America, and 
the By-laws and laws of his Local Union; to comply with 
all the rules and regulations for the government of the 
International Union and his Local Union; to faithfully 
perform all the duties assigned to him to the best of his 
ability and skill; to conduct himself or herself at all 
times in such a manner as not to bring reproach upon the 
Union . . . . 
[Emphasis supplied.] 

B. Article XIX, Section 6(b),^ which provides: 

The basis for charges against members, officers, 
elected Business Agents, Local Unions, Joint Councils or 
other subordinate bodies for which he or it shall stand 
trial shall consist of, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

(1) Violation of any specific provision of the 
Constitution, Local Union Bylaws or rules of 
order, or failure to perform any of the duties 
specified thereunder. 

(2) Violation of oath of office or of the oath of 
loyalty to the Local Union and the Interna-
tional Union. 

(3) Embezzlement or conversion of union's funds or 
property. 

At a November 1, 1989, special meeting of the IBT's General 
Executive Board ("GEB") a resolution was adopted purporting to 
review and interpret certain provisions of the IBT 
Constitution, including Article XIX, Section 6(b). In a 
decision dated January 11, 1990, in the matter of Investiga-
tions Officer v. Friedman and Hughes, I rejected the GEB's 
interpretation as unreasonable. United States District Judge 
David N. Edelstein endorsed and approved my ruling in his 
Opinion and Order dated March 13, 1990. U.S. v. International 
Brotherhood of Teamsters. 735 F. Supp. 506 (S.D.N.Y. 1990). 
In an Opinion dated June 1, 1990, the United States Court of 
Appeals for the Second Circuit affirmed Judge Edelstein's 
March 13, 1990, ruling. U.S. v. International Brotherhood of 
Teamsters, 905 F.2d 610 (2d Cir. 1990). 



(4) Secession, or fostering the same. 

(5) Conduct which is disruptive of, interferes 
with, or induces others to disrupt or inter-
fere with, the performance of any union's 
legal or contractual obligations. Causing or 
participating in an unauthorized strike or 
work stoppage. 

(6) Disruption of Union meetings, or assaulting or 
provoking assault on fellow members or offi-
cers, or failure to follow the rules of order 
or rulings of the presiding officer at 
meetings of the Local Union, or any similar 
conduct in, or about union premises or places 
used to conduct union business. 

(7) Crossing an authorized primary picket line es-
tablished by the member's Local Union or any 
other subordinate body affiliated with the 
International Union. 

Discussion 

A. Count One of the Charges Against Catenaro, 
Leary and Baker 

1. The Negotiations Bonuses 
a. The Investigations Officer's Case 

The Investigations Officer argued that: 

Catenaro, Baker and Leary were the recipients of 
"negotiation bonuses" paid by Local 194 in 1984 and 1987. 
(10-2(a), (b)) . . .. The Bylaws, Section 7.06, 
explicitly provided that it was the duty of the Secretary 
Treasurer, the principal officer of this local, and the 
business Agents to negotiate contracts. (10-2(c)). 
Despite being paid for their work, they voted themselves 
these bonuses as an extra award for performing their 
required duties . . .. These bonuses were not revealed 
to the members and approved as required. This was 
particularly striking because the annual Christmas 
bonuses these officers voted themselves, (10-H) were 
revealed to and approved by the members. 



The "negotiation" bonuses violated Art. XI, § D of 
the Bylaws. The wrongful taking was embezzlement. The 
intent is shown by the failure to comply with the Bylaws, 
unlike the Christmas bonus situation. 
Investigations Officer's Post Hearing Memorandum 
("Investigations Officer's Memorandum") at pp. 4-5. 

b. The Respondents' Case 

Respondents argued that: 

The Respondents' evidence, both testimonial and 
documentary, was unrefuted. That evidence demonstrated 
that the payment of the negotiations' bonus as an 
employment benefit in 1984 and 1987 — periods when major 
contract negotiations occurred — was a continuation of 
a past practice dating back at least 20 years, and was a 
term or condition of employment for the business agents 
that pre-dated the enactment of the Local Union's By-
Laws. It was based upon a recognition that the 
Secretary/Treasurer and Business Agents were not normally 
paid for their overtime hours over the course of the 
years, and as legitimate payment for the extensive 
overtime effort which was required in connection with the 
tri-annual major employer negotiations. It was for this 
reason that the Executive Board had deemed it appropriate 
to continue the practice of awarding Respondents a 
"negotiations' bonus" in consideration for the 
extraordinary effort involved in these major 
negotiations. (See Testimony of Messrs. Mulvihill, 
Catenaro and Baker at T118:19, R160:3, T227-228, 
respectively and Exhibits R-7 [pp. 108-109.]) 

The authority of the Executive Board to take such 
action was explained in, and taken pursuant to, a legal 
opinion rendered by Union counsel in 1972 (Exhibit R-8). 
The unrefuted testimony further indicated that not only 
was Executive Board approval obtained for the payments 
for each of the years in question, but also that the 
payment of that negotiations' bonus was common knowledge 
among the membership for at least 20 years. By all 
accounts the Union membership and officers were close 
knit, and the members were so aware of this periodic 
payment to Respondents that some even needled the 
business agents that if they did not win a good contract 
for the men, they (the business agents) would not get 
their traditional negotiations' bonus. (See Testimony of 
Messrs. Mulvihill, Catenaro, Baker, Leary and Murray at 



T119:4-T120:7; T180:2-T181:25; T227-228; T233:10-22 and 
T240:7-T 241:7, respectively). 

Moreover, it was unrefuted that the action of the 
Executive Board in specifically approving these payments 
was reflected in the minutes of the Executive Board and, 
whether necessary or not, those minutes were presented at 
the Annual General Membership meeting for reading and 
membership approval. The purpose for presenting the 
Executive Board minutes, and their memorializationof all 
transactions of the Union, explained to the general 
membership at the Annual Meeting each year by Respondent 
Catenaro as presiding officer.* (See Testimony of 
Catenaro, T166:15-T162:24.) 

Catenaro testified to the advice of counsel 
prescribing the manner in which he conducted the General 
Membership meetings and more specifically his explanation 
to the membership and the latter's motion effecting an 
acceptance of the minutes (T167:4). 

It is further unrefuted that the Executive Board's 
approval of the negotiation bonus, and its authority for 
such action, was reviewed and approved by Union counsel, 
an attorney well known as a labor practitioner and 
recognized as a man of integrity both within and without 
the state of New Jersey (R-85). Indeed, the evidence was 
undisputed that the Respondents, and particularly the 
Respondent Catenaro, each acted at all times in the 
manner that he understood to be lawful and proper, upon 
the advice of Union counsel. (Testimony of Catenaro 
T167:4-ll). Each believed in good faith that the past 
practice, the minutes of the Executive Board and the 
General Membership's approval of those minutes — whether 
after a full reading or after a motion to dispense with 
the reading — constituted the necessary approval and 
acceptance for the negotiations bonus.* 

Generally, when minutes of the Executive Board meetings were 
to be read at the General Membership Meeting, the membership 
demanded that a complete reading be dispensed with, 
simultaneous with their unanimous approval of all of the 
Executive Board actions, which included the negotiations 
bonus. 

Parenthetically, we note the undisputed evidence, both in 
testimony and as evidenced by the General Membership Meeting 
Minutes themselves, that Union counsel was present at each and 

(continued...) 



Finally, it was unrefuted that the tri-annual 
negotiations with major employers required an abnormal 
and extraordinary amount of overtime work on behalf of 
the Respondents, far beyond any duties traditionally 
required of them in negotiating contracts. (Testimony of 
Messrs. Mulvihill and Catenaro at T117:8-10 and T180:21-
T181:16, respectively and as evidenced by the Executive 
Board's resolution itself, Exhibits R-7, R-9, R-ll, R-13, 
R-15, and R-17.) Simply stated, the payments were both 
properly approved and clearly earned. 
Post-Hearing Brief on Behalf of Respondents Catenaro, 
Baker and Leary ("Respondents' Brief") at pp. 8-9. 

In his reply, the Investigations Officer argued that, for 

several reasons, the "negotiation bonuses were not 'benefits, terms 

and conditions of employment in effect' when the Bylaws were 

adopted." Investigations Officer's Post-Hearing Reply Memorandum 
("Investigations Officer's Reply") at p. 1. The Investigations 

Officer argued that "[b]eing totally discretionary, the bonuses 
were not routine benefits existing before the bylaws." Id. at p. 
2. The Investigations Officer further argued that: 

[T]he type of negotiations ongoing before 1972 bore 
no relation to the less onerous, smaller and more routine 
negotiations of 1984 and 1987 . . .. Consequently, any 
bonus for that earlier type of negotiation was irrelevant 
to establishing any right to bonuses for the negotiations 
in 1984 and 1987. 

Respondents also urge that the bonuses were 
"allowances." Br. at 19. Therefore, they claim that 
under § 9.02 B, approval of the membership was not 
required; the bonuses, they argue, were, at most, only 
subject to the membership's disapproval. The simple 
answer, as discussed below, is that respondents in 
violation of the bylaws insured the members would have no 
opportunity either to approve or disapprove the bonuses. 

'(...continued) 
every General Membership Meeting when the Executive Board 
Minutes were approved by unanimous vote of the membership. 
(T167:12) 
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Waiver of the reading of minutes does not equal a fully 
informed vote. Moreover, Art. XI A defines allowance and 
the bonuses do not fall within the definition. The 
bonuses were in the nature of extra salary and not 
allowance. An allowance is to cover some predicted 
expense. 
Id. at pp. 3-4. 

The Investigations Officer argued that Respondents' 
advice of counsel argument must fail because: 

[F]irst, the attorney's advice was not on a question 
of law and so respondents had no right to rely on it. 
The question concerned the bylaws of Local 194. The 
bylaws . . . are intended to be understood by members 
without the intermediaries of lawyers . . .. The 
lawyers' interpretation adds no greater weight to the 
board's. 

Second, even assuming, the lawyer's letter was legal 
advice on which respondents could rely, they have no 
right of reliance because the facts underlying the 
negotiations in 1984 and 1987 were not the same as those 
in 1973. (Hearing Tr. 204-07). Thus, whether the 1984 
and 1987 negotiations were of the type for which the 
board had previously without membership approval granted 
negotiation bonuses was not an item the lawyer opined 
upon . . .. 

In addition there was no legitimate reliance of 
counsel [sic] advice based on the 1973 letter for the 
respondents here because there was no credible evidence 
they relied on it. 
Id. at pp. 5-6. 

Respondents replied: 

. . . It borders on arrogance for the Investigations 
Officer to summarily dismiss the relevance of legal 
advice rendered to and followed by the respondents and 
their predecessors, and yet conclude that his legal 
interpretation of the by-laws is not only correct, but 
must control. (10 Reply Brief -5). 

. . . The Investigations Officer's representation at 
Page 3 of his brief that "the type of negotiations on 
going before 1972 bore no relation to the less onerous, 
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smaller and more routine negotiations of 1984 and 1987" 
is totally refuted by the record. The Investigations 
Officer cites to the transcript of the hearing, (Pages 
204-207) and yet the testimony at Page 205 (which 
apparently the Investigations Officer has overlooked or 
disregarded) indicates that the work was more intense in 
1987 than it had been back in the days of multi-employer 
negotiations. We quote: 

". . . And if I recall right, in my testimony 
yesterday, I indicated that we used to 
negotiate with the multi-employer group all 
together. Now that they are separated, it has 
become much more difficult and the work has 
intensified, not gotten easier, because the 
same things apply to every one of the 
companies. So what we used to do all at once 
we do now two or three times." (Catenaro 
T205:22 - T206:2 - Emphasis supplied). 

No reading of the testimony of Mr. Catenaro or any 
of the other witnesses can support the Investigations 
Officer's assertion that negotiations in 1984 and 1987 
were "less onerous, smaller and more routine," or his 
assertion that these respondents were less deserving of 
continuation of the past practice regarding the 
negotiations bonus. 
See the letter of February 21, 1991 from Andrew F. 
Zazalli, Jr., Esq. ("Respondents' Reply") to me. 

The Pension Plan Contributions 

A. The Investigations Officer's Case 

The Investigations Officer argued that: 

Catenaro, Leary and Baker were also charged with 
embezzling from the Local through changing the rate of 
contribution from the Local to the Local 194 Full-Time 
Salaried Officers Pension and Retirement Fund. In 1985, 
the contribution was changed from $3,000.00 a year for 
each full time officer to annual contributions that equal 
10 percent of each officer's yearly salary (IO-2d). This 
resulted in over $30,000.00 more than they were entitled 
to being contributed on behalf of the three respondents 
from 1985 to the present. See 10-L. This additional 
contribution was not approved by the members of Local 194 
as required by Bylaws, Article XI, Section D (10-2(e)). 
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Investigations Officer's Memorandum at p. 5. 

The contributions made to this plan vere made by the 
union and paid out of union funds. The increased 
contribution on behalf of the officers to this plan was 
never presented to the union members at the sole yearly 
General Membership meeting. Approval was not reflected 
in the minutes of those meetings and no reference to it 
could be produced, by officers of the Local from the 
Local's files or from the files of counsel to the Local. 
This increased contribution to the Pension Plan, without 
membership approval, was in clear violation of the 
Locals' Bylaws. 
Id. at pp. 7-8. 

B. The Respondents' Case 

Respondents replied to the Investigations Officer's arguments 
follows: 

With regard to the revision of the contribution 
formula in the Full Time Officers' Pension Plan, the 
unrefuted testimony (T161:2-T164:19) demonstrated that in 
1985 Respondent Catenaro received a communication from 
the IBT which suggested to him the need for a review of 
the Plan, in order to insure compliance with various 
revisions in federal law. Catenaro turned the 
information over to Union counsel and the Pension Plan 
consultant for their review. Shortly thereafter, 
Catenaro proposed to the Union Executive Board that it 
consider a revision in the contribution formula so that 
the contributions would be based upon a percentage of 
each participant's compensation, rather than a lump-sum 
amount. Catenaro testified that he had checked with 
various other funds and had determined that 10% of 
compensation was an appropriate and common contribution 
rate, and was an improvement over the alternative, i.e., 
periodic revisions to fixed dollar contributions. (The 
fixed dollar contribution rate had not been changed for 
almost twenty years.) Several Plan revisions, including 
the change in the contribution formula, were not only the 
subject of approval by the Executive Board, but also were 
implemented only after Union counsel agreed they were 
permissible, and only after other consultants, including 
the accountant and actuary (Martin Segal Company), had 
revised the Plan documents and confirmed that they were 
required by, and in compliance with, applicable federal 
law. Indeed, the 10% contribution rate was implemented 
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only following the express direction from Union counsel 
to proceed with the revised contribution. (Exhibit R-33) 

While the Investigations Officer charges the 
Respondents with the receipt of such monies for the 
period 1985 through 1989, the evidence was undisputed 
that in fact contributions at the revised 10% rate were 
not made prior to calendar year 1986. (T254:19) 
Moreover, the Investigations Officer's analysis and 
calculation of the effects of the alleged unlawful 
increase was totally inaccurate, since it failed to take 
into consideration the fact that, by 1989, pursuant to 
terms of the Pension Plan pre-revision, Catenaro would 
have been entitled to an additional $33,000.00 in 
contributions by virtue of his completing 15 years of 
credited service. (T99:25-T100-18) It was undisputed 
that under the terms of the old Plan, Catenaro was 
entitled to received lump-sum contributions of $5,200.00 
per year retroactive to his first year of participation 
in the Plan.* That the Investigations Officer's 
presentation failed to take this into consideration is 
not surprising, since by his own admission neither he nor 
his staff had ever read a single page of the Pension Plan 
and both admittedly were totally unfamiliar with the 
documents and its contents. 
Respondents' Brief at pp. 9-11. 

The Investigations Officer replied that: 

Respondents urge that waiving the reading of 
executive board minutes at an annual membership meeting 
was the equivalent of an informed vote by the members on 
respondents' raises through increased pension benefit 
contributions. While the practice apparently was 
consistent with how the Catenaros ran Local 194 over the 
last three decades, it was not consistent with their 
obligations to the members. See Brinks v. DeLesio. 453 
F. Supp. 272, 278 (D. MD. 1978) ("[T]he consent of a 
beneficiary does not exculpate a fiduciary if the consent 
is not knowingly or intelligently given or if the trustee 
has an interest adverse to the beneficiary and the 
transaction was not fair and reasonable"). Only fully 
informed approval is approval. 

Annual lump-sum payments under the Plan, pre-revision, were 
$3,000.00 but increased, retroactively, to $5,200.00 per annum 
once a participant like Catenaro had 15 years of credited 
service with the Union. (T145:11-19) (See also the Plan, 
Article IV Section 4:03(c)(i) through (vi).) 
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Investigations Officer's Reply at p. 8. 

The Investigations Officer argued further: 

Respondents were beneficiaries of four separate 
pension plans: the Local 194 plan, Local 194 full-time 
salaried Officers' Plan, the Teamster Affiliates Pension 
Fund and the Joint Council 73 plan. 10-Q, at 16-19. All 
were funded on respondents' behalf by the members, 
directly or indirectly. Respondents, not surprisingly, 
did not want to goto the members and obtain a meaningful 
vote by fully informing them of all these plans. 
Respondents would have had to explain that despite the 
four pension plans in which they participated and which 
were paid for by members, they sought to increase the 
payments members made on their behalf to a plan of which 
only respondents were beneficiaries. 

Respondents' interest was directly in conflict with 
the interest of the members to have informed membership 
approval on yet more money going to secure pensions for 
the respondents. Thus, respondents simply ignored the 
bylaws requirements and increased the funding in 
violation of the bylaws. Such action is not only a 
serious bylaws violation but also an embezzlement. See 
United States v. Goad. 490 F.2d 1158 (8th Cir. 1974); 
United States v. Sullivan, supra, 498 F.2d at 150-52 
(receipt of salary increase and bonus without 
prerequisite membership approval was embezzlement); 
United States v. Nell. 526 F.2d 1223, 1231-33 (5th Cir. 
1976). 
Id. at pp. 9-10. 

The Respondents replied that: 

In his reply, the Investigations Officer for the 
first time takes a new tack by asserting that the 
respondents not only needed immediate membership approval 
for changes in the pension contributions formula, but 
also were duty bound to apprise the membership of the 
details of other pension plans in which they 
participated. (10 Reply Brief - 9). This is totally 
outside of the parameters of the charges — there is no 
charge or suggestion that the respondents' participation 
in these plans is anything but legal. There is simply 
nothing in the by-laws nor in any statutory or decisional 
laws cited by the Investigations Officer that requires 
union officials to list any and all previous and present 
benefits enjoyed by them as prerequisite to membership 
approval. The Investigations Officer's last ditch 
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attempt to support baseless charges is without merit or 
any support in the record. 
Respondents' Reply at p. 2. 

C. Count Two 

1. The Investigations Officer's Case 

The Investigations Officer stated that: 
It was further established that Catenaro brought 

reproach upon the IBTby having Local 194 pay him for his 
services as an unsalaried trustee of the Local 194 
Pension and Welfare Funds. In June, 1987 the Local's 
executive board voted to pay $6,000.00 a year to Catenaro 
based on his service as Chairman of Trustees for these 
funds (IO-2F at 3; 10-20). The AFL-CIO ethical 
guidelines explicitly forbid a local officer from being 
compensated for being a trustee of a local fund (I0-2G — 
CODE II: HEALTH AND WELFARE FUNDS — 1. at 440). Such 
service was inherent in Catenaro's duties as an officer 
and is covered by his ordinary compensation. Moreover, 
such extra specified compensation from the union to a 
fund trustee is a prohibited transaction forbidden by 29 
U.S.C. Section 1106(b)(3). That this was no mistake is 
indicated by Catenaro's practice with the negotiation 
bonuses to be paid twice for something inherently covered 
by his salary. 
Investigation Officer's Memorandum at pp. 5-6. 

Under the AFL-CIO Ethical guidelines Catenaro's 
responsibilities with the fund were part of his duties as 
a union officer for which he was not entitled to 
additional reimbursement.* Catenaro, attendee at the 
expense of others at AFL-CIO meetings and conventions, 
professed unawareness of any prohibition against a union 
officer being compensated for being a fund trustee. 

The Independent Administrator posed a question as to the 
current validity of the AFL-CIO Code of Ethical Practice (10-
2g). As recently as April 12, 1989 Lane Kirkland. AFL-CIO 
President, in testimony before the United States Senate 
Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations testified "The code 
has not been altered or changed. It remains on the 
books. . . ." Hearings before the Permanent Subcommittee on 
Investigation - First Session - April 4, 4, 12, 1989 (S. HRG, 
101-299). 
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Moreover, Catenaro began receiving this salary from the 
local before authorization by the members as required by 
the Bylaws. 
Investigations Officer's Memorandum at pp. 9-10. 

Catenaro responded that: 
The "evidence" presented by the Investigations 

Officer for this charge consists simply and solely of the 
Executive Board Minutes and General Membership Meeting 
Minutes of 1987 and 1988, respectively, (Exhibits IO-I-F 
and IO-II-N) which relate to the decision of the Local 
Union to compensate the Respondent Catenaro for his 
substantial services as Chairman (and effectively 
Administrator) of the Union Pension and Welfare Funds. 
The sole authority upon which the Investigations Officer 
apparently bases his allegation is an excerpt from a 
proposed AFL-CIO Code of Ethics, vintage 1957, which was 
excerpted from a book entitled "The Imperfect Union" 
published in 1970.* (Exhibit IO-II-G) Moreover, that 
Code (even if applicable here) only prohibited a full-
time salaried Union official from receiving monies from 
a Fringe Benefit Fund for services as a Trustee. 
Eventually that prohibition was also codified in ERISA. 
But in either event, the conduct proscribed by the "Code" 
is receipt of monies from the Fund for services performed 
as a trustee. The obvious thrust, theme and import of 
the section of the Code cited, is to protect the Funds 
for the benefit of participants. Obviously, that section 
of the Code is inapplicable to the circumstances of this 
case, since here it was the Union which paid the 
compensation, and only after lawful action by the 
Executive Board, whose minutes were approved at a General 
Membership meeting, and with a specific resolution at the 
General Membership Meeting (R-18). 

Catenaro further argued that: 
The undisputed facts in evidence presented by the 

Respondents also reflect the following: 

At the time of their apparent enactment, and for most of the 
period subsequent to the publication of the "Code", the IBT 
was riot even a member of the AFL-CIO, and could not be "bound" 
by them. Moreover, as testified to by Catenaro, he never 
received any such documents nor was he ever aware of its 
existence. (T222:3-25) 
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Prior to ERISA the Trustees of the Funds 
received fees for attendance at Trustees' 
meetings, and the Chairman (the Union Trustee) 
and Chairman (Employer Trustee) received 
$2/000.00 and $1,000.00 per year, 
respectively, from each of the Funds. This 
practice continued until enactment of ERISA, 
which proscribed payment by the funds to any 
Trustee who was a full time paid employee of 
either the Union or a contributing employer. 
(Catenaro T197:7-23). 
After ERISA was enacted, the Executive Board of the 

Union decided to compensate the then Secretary-Treasurer 
for his services as Co-Chairman (or as Special 
consultant) for the Funds because the Funds thereafter 
were no longer permitted to compensate him directly for 
such services. (Catenaro T197:24-7 T199:15) The 
rationale and reason for the Executive Board's decision 
is set forth in the Executive Board minutes (Respondents' 
Exhibit R-221).* 

This practice continued until the then Secretary-
Treasurer retired from employment with the Union, at 
which time his continued services as Chairman of the 
Funds could be and again were compensated directly by the 
Funds. (Catenaro T199:16-24) Upon the death of the 
Chairman of the Funds in the Spring of 1987, Respondent 
Catenaro was elected Chairman by the Boards of Trustees 
of both Funds. (Catenaro T173:4-16) At the Executive 
Board meeting of June 17, 1987 (Exhibit R-24) Catenaro 
requested of the members of the Union Executive Board 
that the Union compensate him $4,000.00 per year for his 
newly-assigned duties as Chairman of the Funds Board of 
Trustees, just as the prior Secretary-Treasurer was 
compensated by the Union for such service during the 
post-ERISA period. However, the Executive Board felt 
that Catenaro should be compensated at the same rate 
which his predecessor had been receiving from the Funds 
at the time of his death, i.e., $3,000.00 per year per 
Fund. (Catenaro T175:11-20) Mr. Catenaro unilaterally 
decided that he would not accept a full year's 
compensation that year, since he had only assumed these 
new duties in the Spring of 1987 (T174:23-T175:4). 
Respondent Catenaro described his daily responsibilities 
as Chairman vis-a-vis, Trustee, essentially that of an 

Parenthetically, we note that these minutes, like all minutes, 
were reviewed by Union counsel. 
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administrator of the funds, negotiating with money 
managers, health insurance companies, review of pension 
applications and reviewing records which in one instance 
caught a $98,000.00 error by Blue Cross (T176:13-
T177:16). 

Shortly thereafter, Mr. Catenaro conferred with 
Union counsel and indicated that he was going to advise 
the general membership at the Annual Meeting that the 
Executive Board had voted to resume the practice of 
compensation applied to his predecessor from 1980 to 
1983, i.e., the payment by the Union for his 
responsibilities as Chairman of the Funds. However, Mr. 
Catenaro also inquired of Union counsel whether it was 
appropriate for him to receive the money prior to that 
General Membership Meeting. Union counsel answered 
affirmatively, with the proviso that if the general 
membership rejected the concept, Catenaro would have to 
pay the money back. (T173:21-T174:13) At the General 
Membership Meeting of May 3, 1988 a resolution approving 
the Executive Board's action setting Mr. Catenaro's 
compensation as the Chairman of the Trustee Boards for 
the Funds was unanimously approved by the general 
membership. (Exhibit R-18) 
Respondents' Brief at pp. 12-14. 

The Investigations Officer replied that Catenaro 
"was unable to articulate any new specific duty which 
justified compensation unrelated to that of any employee 
trustee. Tr. 203-04, 217-20." 
Investigations Officer's Reply at p. 11. 

The Investigations Officer further argued that "the taking of 

the extra salary before membership approval was an explicit 

violation of the bylaws. Art. 9.02B and Art. XI A. Id. 

V. The Merit of the Charges 

At the heart of all of the charges at issue is the contention 

that the Respondents embezzled from Local 194. 

Respondents argue correctly that an appropriate statutory 

guide for determining whether these facts constitute an unlawful 
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act is 29 USC 501(c) of the Labor-Management Reporting and 

Disclosure Act of 1959, 29 USC Section 401, et sea. That section 

provides: 

Embezzlement of assets; penalty. Any person who 
embezzles, steals, or unlawfully and willfully abstracts 
or converts to his own use, or the use of another, any of 
the monies, funds, securities, property, or other assets 
of a labor organization of which he is an officer, or by 
which he is employed, directly or indirectly, shall be 
fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned for not more 
than five years, or both. 

To sustain this charge the Investigations Officer must prove 

that Respondents acted with fraudulent intent to deprive Local 194 

of its funds. In addressing this issue, I decided that all of the 

evidence must be considered together in light of all the 

surrounding circumstances. Investigations Officer v. Salvatore. 

Decision of the Independent Administrator, (October 12, 1990), 

aff'd. United States v. IBT. (Application XIV), 88 Civ. 4486 (DNE), 

slip op., (S.D.N.Y. December 27, 1990). 

Against the factual background of this case, I find that the 

Investigations Officer has not established just cause to find that 

Catenaro, Leary and Baker possessed the requisite fraudulent intent 

to deprive Local 194 of its funds. 

A. Count One 

With respect to the negotiations bonuses, the testimony and 

evidence adduced at the hearing demonstrated that the award of 

bonuses in compensation for tri-annual contract negotiations was a 

long-standing practice of Local 194, of which the membership was 
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generally aware. (See Tr. at pp. 119-20, 160, 180-181, 227-28, 

233, 240-241 and Exhibit R-7.) These bonuses were awarded to 

compensate the recipients for the abnormal and extraordinary amount 

of work involved in negotiating the major contracts, which has 

intensified in recent years. See Tr. 117, 180-181, 205-206 and 

Exhibits R-7, 9, 11, 13, 15 and 17. 

Moreover, the testimony indicated that counsel for Local 194, 

Sidney Reitman, Esq., was present at Local 194 executive board and 

membership meetings, approved the Local's minutes, and, in a 

written opinion, had approved the practice of awarding negotiations 

bonuses. See Tr. 167 and Exhibit R-8. I find no merit in the 

Investigations Officer's contention that respondents' advice of 

counsel defense is unavailing in this case. Thus, even if 

respondents' receipt of the bonuses was improper, their reliance 

upon the advice of their counsel precludes a finding of a 

"fraudulent intent to deprive the Union of its funds." 

With respect to both the negotiations bonuses and the increase 

in pension plan contributions, the evidence demonstrated that the 

minutes of executive board meetings were presented to the general 

membership, which then opted to waive the reading of the minutes 

and approve the actions of the executive board. See Tr. at 166-

167. Had respondents acted with fraudulent intent, it is not 



likely that they would have presented the minutes to the membership 
for their approval.^ 

I am convinced that respondents' revision of the pension plan 
was initiated on a reasonable basis, reviewed by Local 194's 
counsel (Tr. 161-64 and Exhibits R-28-33), and presented to the 
membership for their approval (Tr. 165-66). No evidence of an 
intent to deceive or defraud the membership is ascertainable.^ 

Finally, I also find that Catenaro's receipt of funds from 
Local 194 for his services as Chairman of Trustees for the Local's 
Pension and Welfare funds did not constitute embezzlement and was 
beyond reproach. Compensating the Chairman of Trustees for his 
services, which are substantial, was a long-standing practice of 
the Local. Tr. 197-99. Further, neither the AFL-CIO ethical 
guidelines* (Exhibit 10-11-g) nor the statute cited by the 
Investigations Officer, 29 U.S.C. Section 1106(b)(3), prohibit such 

I take note of the evidence presented by Respondents of a 
petition signed by over half of the membership of Local 194 
which demonstrates that the signatories were aware of and 
approved of the negotiations bonus and Pension Plan 
contributions. See T258 - 62, Exhibit R-37. 

In reaching this conclusion, I take judicial notice of the 
fact that, by approving the change in pension plan 
contributions, Catenaro forfeited $33,000.00 in retroactive 
contributions due to his completion of fifteen years of 
service. Tr. at pp. 99 - 100. 

The parties dispute whether the AFL-CIO guidelines apply to 
this proceeding. I need riot decide this issue, because, even 
if they applied, the guidelines only prevent a full time 
salaried union official from receiving compensation from a 
fund for his services as a trustee. 
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payments to Catenaro.^ And, in accepting the compensation prior 

to its approval by the general membership, Catenaro testified that 

he relied on the advice of the local's counsel. Tr. 173-174. I 

find that the Investigations Officer has failed to prove that 

Catenaro acted with fraudulent intent to deprive the Union of its 

funds when he accepted the Local's funds for his services relating 

to the Pension and Welfare plans. 

Accordingly, the charges against Catenaro, Baker and Leary are 

dismissed. 

Dated: May 6, 1991 

Section 1106(b)(3) of ERISA prohibits a fiduciary from 
receiving any consideration for his own personal account from 
any party dealing with such plan in connection with a 
transaction involving the assets of the plan. There is no 
allegation here linking Catenaro's payment to the plan assets 
or transactions. 29 U.S.C. § 1106(b)(3) (1985). 

Frederick B. Lacey / 
Independent Administrator 
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